

By-Laws

ARTICLE I NAME

The name of the club is the SOUTHERN EAGLE SQUADRON, INCORPORATED. The Academy of Model Aeronautics Charter number is 1707. The Club mailing address is P.O. Box 492005, Leesburg, Florida 34749. The club is a not-for-profit corporation organized under the laws of the State of Florida.

ARTICLE II PURPOSE

The purpose of this club shall include but not necessarily be limited to the following: To organize the efforts of its members to promote the development of radio controlled aircraft as a recreational, sporting and educational activity; to participate in and foster the programs of the Academy of Model Aeronautics (AMA); to encourage members to develop good citizenship, sportsmanship and responsibility toward others through participation in the club's programs; to develop, maintain and improve a suitable site for club activity and to oversee the activity at such site to insure safe and considerate operations.

ARTICLE III MEMBERSHIP

SECTION 1: Any person eligible for membership in the Academy of Model Aeronautics is also eligible for membership in the club. All operators of models at the club site or club functions at other sites must be current members of AMA in a category of membership which provides full insurance coverage. Each applicant for membership will complete the prescribed form and pay the one-time installation fee in effect at the time of the application, excluding junior members

SECTION 2: Membership classes and dues structure:

A. Each membership class will be assessed dues as determined by the Board of Directors and approved by vote of the membership to be sufficient to meet expected operating costs. Initiation fee and other one-time assessments needed from time to time will also be determined by the Board of Directors and approved by membership vote prior to collection.

B. Open Member: All members who have reached and passed the age of 18 years as of the first of January of the membership year will pay annual dues as currently determined by the Board of Directors. Initial year's dues only may be discounted depending on the months remaining in the year.

C. Junior Member: All members who have not reached the age of 18 years as of the first of January of the membership year will pay a specially reduced annual dues as currently determined by the Board of Directors, with no reduction for less than one year.

D. Family Members: Applicant plus spouse and/or children under 18 years of age will pay a special reduced Family dues as currently determined by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 3: Annual dues are on a calendar basis and are due and collectable prior to the last day of the current year for the following membership year. Dues are delinquent as of 1 January and if not paid by 31 January, delinquent members will be deleted from membership rolls. A member's dues must be currently paid in order to exercise a vote in club business, or utilize club facilities.

ARTICLE IV OFFICERS

SECTION 1: The elected officers of the club shall be President, Vice-President, Secretary and a Treasurer. The offices of Secretary and Treasurer may be combined if it is impossible to fill the offices separately. The President shall appoint a Membership Director. The elected officers shall serve for a period of one year or until successors are duly elected and installed. In the event any officer is unable to complete his term in office, a pro-tem election will be held.

SECTION 2: The President is the chief executive officer of the club and will preside over all meetings of the club, will appoint any committees and the chairpersons of such and will be a member with full voting rights of all committees. All contracts or obligations incurred by the club shall bear the signature of the President and shall not be valid unless so signed. The President shall be one of two authorized signers of checks issued on the club account, the other being the Treasurer. The President shall convene meetings of the Board of Directors and committee chairpersons as needed to assess the objectives, activities, planned events, operating and financial condition of the club and to form recommendations concerning such matters for presentation to the membership.

SECTION 3: The Vice- President shall perform such duties as are prescribed by the President. Additionally, the Vice-President will assume the duties and responsibilities of the President in the event of his absence or disability.

SECTION 4: The Secretary is the official record keeper of the club and as such will keep a complete and accurate record of all meetings of the club. The Secretary will conduct all routine correspondence, communicate the master membership roster updates to the AMA, and perform such other duties as may be required by club activity. Any newsletters or other official publications of the club will be approved by the Secretary and a record copy retained.

SECTION 5: The Treasurer shall have custody of all corporate funds and shall keep, in computer files or books belonging to the club, a full and complete accounting of all receipts and expenditures of club funds. All moneys of the club shall be deposited in the club account in an expeditious manner. If so required by the membership, the Treasurer accounts will be audited prior to turnover to a new treasurer. Any discrepancies will be rectified prior to turnover.

SECTION 6: The Membership Director, an officer appointed by the President, shall be directly responsible for implementing established club policies regarding potential, new, current, and rejoining members. The Membership Director shall be a member of the Board of Directors.

SECTION 7: Subject to the majority vote of the membership to the contrary, the officers are authorized to execute and perform all corporate acts appropriate to carry on the business of the club. All officers including the Membership Director, shall serve without compensation.

SECTION 8: For the purposes of incorporation the club officers will fulfill Director's duties, serving as Board of Directors.

ARTICLE V MEETINGS

SECTION 1: Meetings of the general membership should be held preferably on the 2nd or 3rd Thursday of each month, except if approved by the membership for suspension during the summer months. The date, time and location of scheduled meetings will normally be published to the membership at least one month in advance, and at least one week in advance of a rescheduled meeting.

SECTION 2: Each club membership shall have one vote, except Junior members, who are nonvoting members. Proxy votes are not authorized. A majority of the board of directors or ten percent (10%) of the total membership shall constitute a quorum for conducting routine business. A simple majority of the members voting shall be required to pass any motion at any meeting, except in the case of amendment of these By-Laws as required in Article VIII.

ARTICLE VI ELECTIONS

SECTION 1: In the month of November of each year, the President shall appoint a nominating committee consisting of a chairman and two other members for the purpose of preparing a slate of candidates for election to each office. This slate will be presented to the membership at the annual election in December. Additional nominations may be made from the floor, by any member, at any time until such time as nominations are closed by motion or vote,

SECTION 2: Election shall be by ballot cast in person or in the case of "no contest", by acclamation, if so moved and carried. An excess of votes cast for any candidate over those cast for any opponent will be deemed sufficient for election. Ballots, if required, will be tallied and elected nominees announced at the election meeting.

SECTION 3: Assumption of elected office will occur at the start of "New Business" at the first meeting of the new fiscal year.

ARTICLE VII DISSOLUTION

SECTION 1: In the event of the dissolution or termination of the club in any manner or for any reason whatsoever, the assets of the club that remain after payment or making provisions for payment of all club liabilities, shall be donated to The Academy of Model Aeronautics.

ARTICLE VIII ADOPTION, AMENDMENT, IMPLEMENTATION

SECTION 1: These by-laws may be amended, altered, changed, added to or repealed by the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of members present who are entitled to vote, at any regular or special meeting of the club, a quorum being present. Notice that such motion is to be made and voted upon by the members shall be announced at least 30 days before the meeting. These bylaws shall be in full force and effect immediately upon adoption, and shall remain in effect until dissolution or termination of the club or upon amendment.

ARTICLE IX PROPERTY DAMAGE

SECTION 1: In the event that an aircraft causes damage to any of the structures, fences, equipment or other property located at the flying field, resolution of that event will be decided by the Field Committee. The Field Committee is composed of the Field Manager and two members selected by the Field Manager and approved by the membership. The Field Committee will decide on the cost to the owner of the aircraft, if any, and formulate a plan to repair the damage.

If the member pilot refuses to pay the repair cost, his/her membership will be changed to a Member in Bad Standing with revoked flying privileges until the situation is resolved. The member in bad standing will be reinstated at a later time only on the recommendation of the field committee.

ARTICLE X TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP

SECTION 1: This section provides for enforcement of the Safety Rules that are related to the flying activities or any other unacceptable behavior by an individual member or members. While most violations can be resolved informally, those that cannot, such as flagrant or continued violations, will be referred to the Board of Directors for consideration. If it is found that the individual or individuals willfully committed an act or omission which is in violation of any of the terms of the by-laws, the rules of the Southern Eagle Squadron, the AMA or which is detrimental to the club, the AMA or to model aviation, such individual may have his membership suspended by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. The individual's membership may be terminated by a two thirds (2/3) majority vote of the members attending a regular monthly meeting, for a period of one (1) calendar year without any monetary refund of membership dues. The offending member or members will be informed of the disposition of the violation in writing.

SECTION 2: REINSTATEMENT: A two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of the members attending a regular monthly meeting is required for the reinstatement to the club after the one year period. Before reinstatement, that member must become current with his membership dues.

HISTORY OF REVISIONS OF the Southern Eagle Squadron, Inc. BY-LAWS:

By-Laws originally adopted May 29, 1987.

By-Laws amended June 2009.

This Amendment approved by membership at meeting held: June, 18, 2009. By-Laws hereby amended and in effect: June 18, 2009.

By-Laws amended August 15, 2013.

This amendment approved by membership at meeting held: August 25, 2013. By-Laws hereby amended and in effect: August 15, 2013.

This amendment approved by membership at meeting held: January 19, 2017. By-Laws hereby amended and in effect: January 19, 2017.

**APPROVAL AND ADOPTION OF THIS AMENDMENT HEREBY CERTIFIED BY
2017 OFFICERS:**

PRESIDENT: Carl Angleberger _____

DATE: _____

VICE-PRESIDENT: Mickey Murphy _____

DATE: _____

SECRETARY: Wayne Roethler _____

DATE: _____

TREASURER: Brian Carinder _____

DATE: _____